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ty Futures Trading Commission v. American Bullion Exchange Abex Corp et al Do

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SOUTHERN DIVISION

U.S. COMMODITIES FUTURES Case No.: SACV 10-01876 DOC(RNBx
TRADING COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,

VS. ORDER GRANTING IN PART
MOTION FOR SUMMARY

AMERICAN BULLION EXCHANGE JUDGMENT [257] [269]

ABEX CORP., ET AL,
Defendants.

Before the Court is the motn for summary judgment (DK257) filed by Plaintiff Uniteg
States Commodity Futuresading Commission (“CFTC”) against Defendant Ryan A.
Nassbridges and Relief Defendants. After agrsng the moving andpposing papers, the
entirety of the record, and oral argument,@wairt GRANTS IN PART and DENIES IN PAR
the motion.

l. Background
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The CFTC brought the irett lawsuit against defendants Ryan A. Nassbridges,
American Bullion Exchange ABEX Corp. (“ABX Corp.”), and American Bullion Exchange
LLC ("ABEX LLC") (together, “ABEX” or “ABEX entities”). SeeCompl. at 1-2. The CFTGC
also named Relief Defendants American emefd Commodities APC Corp. (“APC”), R.E.
Lloyd Commodities Group Hding LLC (“R.E. Lloyd”), and Bita J. Nassbridges, wife of Ry
A. Nassbridgesld.

The CFTC alleges that Mr. NassbridgesPassident and CEGf ABEX Corp. and
president of ABEX LLC, ran both compasiand exercised control over their regular
operations. The CFTC claims that Mr. Nassbr&digeld the companies out as coin and bull
trading businesses, but then commingled invdsitwis and invested a substantial portion of
those funds in high-risk options and futures cacts instead. The CFTC further alleges tha

Mr. Nassbridges sustained an overall net tratting of roughly $2.2 miltin in investor funds

through his futures and optionading. Mr. Nassbridges alstbemedly misappropriated client

funds by funneling roughly $2illion of those funds into Biand his wife’s personal bank
accounts and the bank accounts téfelefendants R.H.loyd and APC.

The CFTC filed the instant ogplaint on December 8, 201&eeCompl. (Dkt. 1). The
CFTC brings claims for violations of the Coradity Exchange Act and associated regulatic
as follows: (1) violation of 7 U.S.C. 8&b(a)(2)(i) and (iii): fraud by solicitation,
misappropriation and failure to disclose trading &sses (futures) (coufy; (2) violation of 7
U.S.C. § 6¢(b) and regulatio8.10(a) and (c), 17 C.F.R. 88 133.10(a) and (c): fraud by
fraudulent solicitation, misapproption and failure to disclodeading and losses (options)
(count 2); (3) violatiorof section 7 U.S.C. 8d1), fraud as a CPO and associated person (
3); (4) violation of 7 US.C. § 6(m)(l) and 17 U.S.C. § 13c(hkiplation of 7 U.SC. 6k2, failure
to register as an associated person and a caiityrpool operator (count); (5) violation of
Regulation 4.20(a)(1), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(a)(1)OC&tcepting pool funds other than in the ng
of the pool and failure to treat the pool as pasate legal entity (cous); (6) violation of
Regulation 4.21, 17 C.F.R. 8§ 4.21(a)(1), failurgtovide pool disclosure documents (count
(7) violation of Regulation 4.22, 17 C.F.R. 8§ 4.24lure to provide momiy account statemer
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(count 7); and (8) disgorgement of funilom the relief defendants (count &ee generally
Compl.

a. Investor Testimony

The CFTC presents the testimony of twedstors: Henry Gindt and the Murrays. M|,

Gindt testified in his deposition that he invested in ABEX in Septe2B@/ after speaking by
phone with ABEX employee Curtis Lund and Miassbridges. Gindt Dep. at 5. Mr. Gindt

~

invested $1.4 million with ABEX on the understanding that Mr. Nassbridges was investing in

gold bullion, platinum, and palitum, and that Mr. Nassbridges had a seat on the Commodities

Exchange.ld. at 10. Mr. Gindt testified th&lir. Nassbridges discussed gold bullion
investments with him and did notention futures or optiondd. at 6-7, 12-13. Mr. Gindt

testified that he wouldot have invested with ABEX if hiead known the investment would b

in futures or optionsld. at 7. Mr. Gindt received statements from ABEX stating that trade

were being conducted in bullion and coitd. at 12. Mr. Nassbridges told Mr. Gindt that M
Gindt’'s investment funds would be maintained segregated account, that the investment
were insured by Lloyd’s of London, and that. Nassbridges would use stop-loss orders to
protect investors from any loss of principlel. at 13.
Arla Jeanne Murray testified in her depasitthat she and her husband spoke to Cu
Lund by phone and received two ABEX brochurethmmmail. Murray Dep. at 9. In Septem
2007, Ms. Murray and her husband spoke ekermphone with Mr. Nassbridges. Mr.
Nassbridges represented to the Murrays:
That he was the presideat ABEX and an experiaed gold bullion dealer; he
was registered with the Chicago Bdaof Trade and # National Futures
Association; ABEX would use our monéy buy gold bullion aspot prices; our
money would be separateficcounted for and segregdtfrom other customers’
money; our money would deept in the United States; our money would not be
commingled with other persons or acca&jimur money would not be used to
secure or extend credit of any custoraeiperson; we coulgay in full and take

immediate physical delivgrof the gold bullion or stre our metal with HSBC
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Bank or an independent depository; e@aild finance our purchase through ABEX

with a down payment ...[A]Jnd ABEX’s investments were insured against loss

by Lloyd’s of London.
Id. at 11-12. Ms. Murray unddood Mr. Nassbridges’s representations to mean that “the
Nassbridges through ABEX would purchasel atore gold bulliofior our account.”ld. at 13.
The Murrays orderedold bullion bars and coirtirough ABEX, and soldoins as well. ABE)
sent the Murrays month-end statements fidorember 2007 until Apl 2008 that showed
balances in quantities of goldlbon bars and the “current grosguity” of the account at the
time. See idExs. 9-14. ABEX did ngprovide any account statements showing the future
options trading of the funddd. at 22. The Murrays paid ABEX a total of $1,531,588.at
23. The Murrays filed an adssary proceeding in the Nassbridges’ 2008 bankruptcy procg
and won a $1.5 million lgment after the bankruptcy court found that Mr. Nassbridges hg
defrauded themld. at 28.

b. Employee Testimony

Curtis Lund worked foABEX as an account representativLund Dep. (Mot. Ex. D) &
11. Mr. Lund testified that Mr. Nassbridgesntrolled ABEX’s marketing materials and
solicitation practices, including writing the handb@at to investors. Mr. Lund testified tha
the content of the ABEX soliciti®n materials included representations that: (1) ABEX wol

invest customers’ funds in bullion and coi(} customers’ funds auld be maintained in

segregated accounts; @BEX’s investments were insuredjainst loss by Lloyd’s of London;

(4) ABEX would use stop-loss ondeto protect customers fromyaloss of their principal; ang
(5) Mr. Nassbridges was registered witle National Futures Associatiotd. at 17-18. In
soliciting customers, ABEX discéed neither that customemfis would be used to trade

commodity futures and optig, nor the risks assoasak with the tradingld. at 19-20. Mr.

Nassbridges conducted all trades, and Mr. Laimdi the other employees were not allowed {0

observe or listen in on the tadalls with the exchange#d. at 19.

c. Trading Accounts
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Although he did not represent to custonteet ABEX invested funds in futures and
options, Mr. Nassbridges opened and maintafivedcommodity futures and options trading
accounts in his name, his wife’s nameA&EX Corp.’s name atwo Futures Commission
Merchants (“FCMs”). Bougas Decl. {1 2, 48-66, Ryan Nassbridges held at least three
accounts in his name at MF Global and VisiarVision account ending623 opened in July
2006,see id Exs. 5-A, 5-B, an MF Global accoumtding in -6623 opened in December 20(
and a Vision account ending -0858ge id Exs. 7-A, 7-B. MF Global also had at least one
trading account open in Bita Nassbridgessne, opened in October 2007, ending -856de
id. Exs. 8-A, 8-B. Mr. Nassbridges also opaia@ account for ABEXvith MF Global in
October 2007, account number ending -8586e id Exs. 9-A, 9-B. All of these accounts
traded futures or options betweAugust 2006 and March 200&ee id Exs. 5-B, 6-B, 7-B, 8-
B, 9-B; Castellano Dep. at 26-28.

Employees of the FCMs testified that the@ants at issue trad only futures and
options, and that Mr. Nassbridges seemed entsbre of that. First, all of the trading
employees spoke to Mr. Nassbridggbout futures and trading in his accounts. Mr. Castell

a broker for MF Global, spoke to Mr. Nassbridgdout placing ordeend margin calls on the

)6

ano,

1%

various accounts at MF Global. Castellano #d.2, 39. Josh Lewis discussed margin calls

with Mr. Nassbridges, and how various global issueght affect the price of gold. Lewis De
at 23. Mr. Lewis testified that these convémas only addressed futures trading and futurg
markets, as the conversatiaealt with COMEX and the futas exchange in Chicagdd. at
23. Joseph Texido, a Senior Vice Presidattt MF Global, was the primary contact at MF
Global for the accounts opened fdr. Nassbridges, Bita Nassbrigelyy and ABEX. Texido Deg

at 18-19. Mr. Texido believed iVINassbridges was fully aware thg was trading futures, a

11t appears that these two accounts may actballghe result of an acaot transfer from Visio
to MF Global, and so reflect ormecount that was opened withsiédn and later transferred to
MF Global. Seel.ewis Dep. at 23; Texido Dep. at 3009 R. Nassbridges Dep. at 179.
Therefore, the two -6623 accounts bedter thought of as the same account.

-5-
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he referred to the trades as “contracts”, anddhdit use language that would have made anyj
sense for the buying and selling of physigallion (which would require buying actual
guantities, not contracts)d. at 24.

Trading employees also stated that #liteount statements for Mr. Nassbridges’s
various accounts showed futuisd options trading, not spotetals trading. Castellano
Dep. at 27, 40, 45-46, 74; Texido Dep48t The trading employees testified that Mr.
Nassbridges had full control of all of theaecounts, and personally traded in them
regularly. Lewis Dep. at 22, 24, 26, 29-3(exido Dep. at 2024. During the one-
month period from August 2007 to Septemb@d7, Mr. Texido hadrading authority for
one of the Nassbridges accounts. Texido 21, Ex. A; Bougas Decl. Ex. 5-A.
Other than that brief periot¥r. Nassbridges fully controllethe accounts and the trading
employees did not have power of attorngy make trades or the electronic login
information for the acamts. Castellano Dep. at 44-45ijverstein Dep. at 43; Texido
Dep. at 49seelLewis Dep. at 22, 24, 26, 29-30. rMNassbridges did the trading in the
accounts, either through onliaecess or by calling the tradidgsks. Castellano Dep. at
12, 39; Lewis Dep. at 290; Texido Dep. at 20.

d. Mr. Nassbridges’s Testimony

Mr. Nassbridges sat for two depositions. Is 2009 deposition, he testified that ABE
investors’ funds were pooled together afterestors wired money to ABEX. 2009 R.
Nassbridges Dep. at 72, 138. Mr. Nassbridget#itd that investor funds, including funds fi
the Murrays and Mr. Gindt, were invested with MF GloHdl.at 146. Mr. Nassbridges
testified that “[i]n return, w@urchased certain amount of galdd silver, that we never got
from them yet.”Id. at 146. Mr. Nassbridges testified thia¢ investments were lost becauseg
Global failed to honor a stop-loss or stop-sell orddr.at 146.

Mr. Nassbridges testified that he did nobtanthat the MF Global accounts were bein
used to trade futures, that he was mislgdMF Global employees vahtold him he could
purchase gold bars and coins through the acspant that he believed the accounts were

actually being used to purcleaghysical gold and silveidd. at 170, 176, 193, 210, 211. Mr.
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Nassbridges testified that neither he nor higEEXBemployees discussed commaodity futures
options with prospective investoril. at 102. He also testified thiag did disclose to investo
that their funds would be pooledth other investors’ fundsld. at 102. Mr. Nassbridges
testified that ABEX did not provide clients wigmy statements from MF Global about the s
of the accounts, because “it wasn'’t their probleial.”at 226.

Il. Legal Standard

Summary judgment is proper if “the movaows that there is rgenuine dispute as t
any material fact and the movastentitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P
56(a). Summary judgment is to be grantedioasly, with due respect for a party’s right to
have its factually grounded clairaad defenses tried to a jurelotex Corp. v. Catretd 77
U.S. 317, 327 (1986 Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&77 U.S. 242, 255 (1986). The court
must view the facts and draw inferences inrttaaner most favorable tbe non-moving party|
United States v. Diebold, In869 U.S. 654, 655 (199 hevron Corp. v. Pennzoil C&74
F.2d 1156, 1161 (9th €i1992). The moving party beargtimitial burden otiemonstrating th
absence of a genuine issue of matdact for trial, but it needot disprove the other party’s
case.Celotex 477 U.S. at 323. When the non-movpeayty bears the burden of proving the
claim or defense, the moving party can mteburden by pointing odhat the non-moving
party has failed to present any genuine issue ¢émahfact as to apssential element of its
case.See Musick v. Burk®13 F.2d 1390, 1394 (9th Cir. 1990).

Once the moving party meets its burden, the bustiéfts to the opposing party to set
specific material facts showiraggenuine issue for trialSee Liberty Lobhyl77 U.S. at 248-4¢
A “material fact” is one which “might affect the outcome of the suit under the governing |
. 1d. at 248. A party cannot create a genuine issumabérial fact simply by making asserti
in its legal papersS.A. Empresa de Viacao Aerea Riafense v. Walter Kidde & Co., Inc
690 F.2d 1235, 1238 (9th Cir. 1982). Rathieere must be specifiadmissible evidence

identifying the basis for the disputéd. The court need not “comb the record” looking for o

evidence,; it is only required tmnsider evidence set forthtime moving and opposing papers

and the portions of the record cite@tin. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(3yarmen v. S.F. Unified

and

I's

[ate

O

e

out
).

oNns

ther

aw . ..



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Sch. Dist. 237 F.3d 1026, 1029 (9th Cir. 2001). ™hgreme Court has held that “[tlhe mer
existence of a scintilla advidence . . . will bensufficient; there must be evidence on which
jury could reasonably find fdthe opposing party].’Liberty Lobby 477 U.S. at 252.

[ll.  Failure to Disclose Exhibits

Mr. Nassbridges filed 773 pages of exhibiifwthe Court, which constitute “Exhibit H
to the Opposition. These documents, however, were never provided to the S€aReply at
6. They are also not filed on the electronic doclgseDkts. 259, 260. Although the Court
finds that summary judgment as discussedvétcappropriate even when considering the
documents included in Exhibit F, the Court furthdes that the exhibit is properly excluded
under Rule 37(c)SeeFed. R. Civ. P. Rule 37(c) (“If a g# fails to provide information or
identify a witness as required BRule 26(a) or (e), the party is not allowed to use that
information or witness tsupply evidence oa motion, at a hearing, or at a trial . . Jyn v.
TriMas Corp, CIV.S040889FCDPAN, 2008/L 3439932, at *3 (E.D. Cal. Dec. 15, 2005)
(excluding exhibits to late exgaeport because plaintiff did npteviously disclose them to
defendants).

Similarly, Mr. Nassbridges filed a supplemdraapert report on Jy 11, 2014, three
days before the initial hearing dat8eeDefendant’s Forensic Accotant Expert Second Rep
(Dkt. 268). The CFTC moves to strike the ref@tause it was filed late and after the close
discovery, in violation of Local Rule 7#&nhd Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 2Z6eeMotion to
Strike (Dkt. 269). Thenotion is GRANTED.

IV.  Admissions

The Court first addresses the CFTC’s arguntiegit all facts submitted to Mr. and Mrs
Nassbridges in the CFTC’s Regtgeefor Admission (“RFAS”) irdiscovery are admitted beca
Mr. and Mrs. Nassbridges failed to respond. It is true that neither Mr. or Mrs. Nassbridg
responded to the CFTC’s RFAs, which are atddo the Motion asxibits A (RFAs to Mr.
Nassbridges) and G (RFAs to Mrs. Nassbridgésdiscovery proceedings, the Magistrate
Judge ruled that, “[a]s a resoltthe Nassbridges’ failure serve timely responses to the

admission requests, each of the matters wasratitcally deemed admitted and shall remair]
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conclusively established unless the Court, on aanppermits the admission to be withdraw
See Fed. R. Civ. P. 36(b).” Order, Decembet(3,3 (Dkt. 224), at 1. There has been no
motion to withdraw the admissions, and the Méagite Judge reaffirmed his decision after
reviewing documents that Mr. and MMassbridges presented as responSegOrder, Janual
7, 2014 (Dkt. 232). Defendants do natpend to this argumém the Opposition.

Therefore, the statements in the RFAsdgemed admitted and therefore “conclusive
established.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 36(b). Suchdaut appropriate for cadsration on a motion f¢
summary judgmentSee Wright v. Paul Revere Life Ins. (291 F. Supp. 2d 1104, 1111 (C,
Cal. 2003).

V. Supplemental Bougas Declaration

The Court was concerned that the initial Reation of CFTC Invstigator Michelle
Bougas did not fully authenticaédl of the statements thereiithe CFTC filed a supplementsa
brief and exhibits expining and establishing dmdation and admissibility of its contentSee
Letter Brief (Dkt. 273). The citations to the Bougas Declaration in this order refer to the
original declaration, but incorpate the relevant exhibits filegith the supplemental letter bri

VI.  Whether the ABEX Entities are Commodities Pool Operators

The Complaint alleges several counts of frand regulatory violations based on the

ABEX entities qualifying as Commodities Pool &@gators (“CPO”) under the CEA. The Cour

therefore addresses this issue at the outset.
The CEA defines a commodipool operator (“CPQO”) as:
any person—
() engaged in a business that is of taure of a commodity pool, investment
trust, syndicate, or similar form of &mprise, and who, in connection therewith,
solicits, accepts, or receives from othdrgyds, securities, oproperty, either
directly or through capital contributionshe sale of stock or other forms of
securities, or otherwisefor the purpose of tradingn commodity interests,
including any—

() commodity for futuredelivery, security futures product, or swap;
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(1) agreement, contract, or transactescribed in section 2(c)(2)(C)(i) of
this title or section 2(c)(2)(D)(i) of this title;
(1) commodity option authorized undsection 6c¢ of this title; or
(IV) leverage transaction authorizedder section 23 of this title; . . .
7 U.S.C. § 1a(11)(A). Regulation 1.3(aa)@j,C.F.R. 1.3(aa)(3), defines an “associated
person” as:
any natural person who is associatedng af the following capacities with: . . .
(3) A commodity pool operator as a puat, officer, employee, consultant, or
agent (or any natural pers occupying a similar status or performing similar
functions), in any capacityhich involves (i) the solitation of funds, securities,
or property for a participation in a commtydpool or (ii) the supervision of any
person or persons so engaged . . .
17 C.F.R. 8 1.3(aa)(3). The CFTC argues KBEX Corp. and ABEX LLC acted as CPOs,

and that Mr. Nassbridges acted asasociated person of those CPOs.

First, the Court addresses whether therenmterial issue of fact as to whether ABEX

Corp. and ABEX, LLC were GPs. To be a CPO, the AX entities must be a person
“engaged in a business that is of the natur@ @fmmodity pool, investment trust, syndicate
similar form of enterprise,” and who solicftends, securities or property from others “in
connection” with that businessgifthe purpose of trading in commodity interests.” 7 U.S.
la(11)(A). A “person” for purposes of the statute “imports the plural or singular, and inc
individuals, associations, partnerships, cogbions, and trusts.7 U.S.C. § 1a(38).

There is no genuine dispute of materadtfthat ABEX functioned as a CPO. ABEX,
through Mr. Nassbridges and Mr. Lund, solicited funds from individuals, placed those fu
trading accounts, and usea tunds to invest in commiiks futures and options. Mr.
Nassbridges argues in part that he did not kaodid not intend tdrade commodities futures
and options; instead, he intended to actuallydny sell gold bullion using leverage accoun
Even if ABEX had only tradegrecious metals, ABEX LLC and ABEX Corp. would qualify

CPOs. The “commodity interests” whose tradrequires registration as a CPO include

-10-
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“leverage transaction authorized under sectionfa8is title.” 7 U.S.C. 1a(11)(A)(@i)(IV).
Section 23 of Title 7 is titled “Standardiz€bntracts for CertaiCommodities,” and
specifically addresses the purchase of prexmoatals. Subpart)Iss specifically titled
“Permission to enter into contracts for deliverysd¥er or gold bullion, bulk silver or gold
coins, or platinum; rules andgelations.” 7 U.S.C. § 23(b3ee als& U.S.C. 8§ 23(b)(1) (“no
person shall offer to enter intenter into, or confirm the exetwon of, any transaction for the
delivery of silver bullion, gold dtion, bulk silver coins, bulk dd coins, or platinum . . .
contrary to the terms of any rule, regulationprder that the Commission shall prescribe.”),
Therefore, even if Mr. Nassbridges had investedABEX funds as he claimed, or claimed {
he intended, the ABEX entisewvould still qualify as CPOs.

Mr. Nassbridges points to Exhibits A and Bnis Opposition as demonstrating a mat
issue of fact on this point. Each of thesxhibits discusses whether ABEX’s activities
constitute a commodities pool. One is a lefitem Mr. Nassbridges’s bankruptcy counsel,
explaining that he attemptedniegotiate a global settlement with creditors of the Nassbrid
and that this “pool” of creditors should o understood as “pooling” under the CE3ee
Opp’n Ex. A. The other is arxpert report that analyzes thétéx from bankruptcy counsel a
discusses an earlier expert report that is albongted in a later Oppositn exhibit. The repor
describes the ABEX “business model,” and opittet this is not a commodity pool.

First, the letter regarding bankitey creditors raises no genairssue of fact. It simply
explains that any effort to pool creditors we a commodities pool. The CFTC is not alleg
that the effort to pool the bankstcy creditors was a commodities pottl alleges that the act
ABEX funneling investor money into commingl&a@ding accounts and using those funds fq

commodities trading constituted a commodities pddiese facts are undisputedly true; Mr.

Nassbridges himself testifiedahall funds were pooledSee2009 R. Nassbridges Dep. at 72.

As noted above, even if these funds ia ABEX bank accounts had been used as ABEX
represented it would use th€to purchase bullion), this watd also have constituted a
commodities pool. Mr. Nassbridges therefore dematesmo genuine issue of material fac

to ABEX’s operation as a CPO. Second, tkpegt report analyzing ABEX'’s “business mod

-11-
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simply discusses the model as described toxpereby the Defendants; it does not rebut ar
the actual facts discussed above.
Having determined that the ABEX entities fiad as CPOs as matter of law, the
Court proceeds to evaluate the fraud eaglilatory claims alleged by the CFTC.
VII.  Counts 1-3: Fraud
a. Applicable Law

Counts 1-3 allege violations of the antifchprovisions of the CEA. The CFTC claims$

that R. Nassbridges violated 8B(a)(2)(A) and (C), 4c(b), anad) of the CEA, which
correspond to 7 U.S.C. &b(a)(2)(A) and (C), 7 U.E. § 6¢(b), 7 U.S.C. 8%1), and
regulations 17 C.F.R. 88 33.10@)d (c), repealed June 26, 2qafer the conduct alleged in
this lawsuit).

The statutory provisions at issue are listeldwe First, section 6b(a) governs fraudul
representations regarding futures contracts:

(a) Unlawful actions

It shall be unlawful—

(2) for any person, in or in connectianth any order to make, or the making
of, any contract of sale of any commodity future delivery,or swap, that is
made, or to be made, for or on beldlfor with, any other person, other than
on or subject to the rules afdesignated contract market—

(A) to cheat or defraud or attemptdbeat or defraud the other person; [or]

(C) willfully to deceiveor attempt to deceive the other person by any
means whatsoever in regata any order or contract or the disposition or
execution of any order or contract, or regard to any act of agency
performed, with respect to any order @ontract for or, in the case of
paragraph (2), with the other personl.]

7 U.S.C. 8§ 6b(a)(2). Similarly, section 6cfn)dresses fraud regamndioptions contracts:
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(b) Regulated option trading
No person shall offer to &r into, enter into or adirm the execution of, any
transaction involving any ecomodity regulated under thchapter which is of the
character of, or is commonly known toetlirade as, an “option”, “privilege”,
“indemnity”, “bid”, “offer”, “put”, “c all’, “advance guaranty”, or “decline
guaranty”, contrary t@any rule, regulatiomr order of theCommission prohibiting
any such transaction or allowing amsych transaction nder such terms and
conditions as the Commissi shall prescribe. . . .
7 U.S.C. 86¢. Inturn, 17 ER. 8§ 33.10 is one such rdgtion with which the covered
transactions in 8 6¢ must comply:
It shall be unlawful for any pson directly or indirectly:

(a) To cheat or defraud or attentptcheat or defraud any other person,;

(c) To deceive or attempt to deee any other person by any means
whatsoever
in or in connection withan offer to enter to, the entry into, the
confirmation of the execution of, dhe maintenance of, any commodity
option transaction.
17 C.F.R. 8 33.10.
In addition, section®2) prohibits fraud through interstate commerce by a commod
advisor, commodity pool operator, @ssociated person of either:
(1) 1t shall be unlawful for a commodityading advisor, associated person of a
commodity trading advisor, commodity pomperator, or associated person of a
commodity pool operator, by use of theilm@r any means or instrumentality of
interstate commerce, directly or indirectly
(A) to employ any device, scheme, artifice to defraud any client or

participant or prospective client or participant; or
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(B) to engage in any transaction, practice, or course of business whicl
operates as a fraud or deceit upon amntor participant or prospective
client or participant.

7 U.S.C. 8 6(2).

The elements for each of these causesturaare essentially the same. Options anc
futures fraud rely on the sarset of elements, although optidingud technically involves two
steps: section 6¢(b) prohibits apts transactions that violaéay rule or regulation of the
CFTC, and 17 C.F.R. 8 33.10 ischua regulation that prohibifseaud in connection with a
commodity option contractSee Commodity Futures Trading Comm’n v. Roseni@ér§ .
Supp. 2d 424, 445-46 (D.N2000). Demonstrating liabilitior options fraud under § 33.10
includes proving the same elements as a clarrfutares fraud under section 6b(a)(2): “(1) t
making of a misrepresentation, misleading statenoera deceptive omission; (2) scienter; g
(3) materiality.” See Commodity Futures Trading Comm’R.J. Fitzgerald & Co., Inc310
F.3d 1321, 1328 (11th Cir. 2002).

These elements are also the elementsadfdor commodity pool operator fraud unde
U.S.C. 8§ ®(1). See U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Comm’'n v. Dyi8é7 F. Supp. 2d 968
978 (C.D. Cal. 2012) (“The same intentionalreckless misappropriations, misrepresentatic
and omissions of material fagblative of section 4b of thAct . . . also violate section
40(1)(A)-(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. 8&1)(A)-(B).”); Commodity Futures Trading Comm’n v.
Weinberg 287 F. Supp. 2d 1100, 1108.D. Cal. 2003) (“The sanmnduct by Weinberg tha
violates Section 4b(a)(i) andi) also violates Sectiona}(1).”). Fraud as a commodity pool
operator, however, does nmeguire scienterCommodity Futures &ding Comm’n v. Savage
611 F.2d 270, 285 (9th Cir. 197@)W]e hold that an actiofor injunctive relief by the CFTC
under sectiond (1) requires only that the violator haaeted intentionallyThat is, he must
have intended to employ theedce, scheme, or artifice’ but it is not necessary that he kng
that its result will be to defraud the client or prospective client.”).

b. Collateral Estoppel

I. Background
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The CFTC argues that the bankruptcy cautdgment in favor of the Murrays againg
Mr. Nassbridges has preclusive effect and estalsligieefraud elements in this case. The C
asserts a theory afffensive non-mutual collateral estopp#lot. at 14. “Offensive non-mutu
collateral estoppel is a versiohthe doctrine that arises wharplaintiff seeks to estop a

defendant from relitigating an issue which thédédant previously litig&d and lost against

another plaintiff.” Appling v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. C840 F.3d 769, 778th Cir. 2003).

The Court applies offensive non-mutual collatestoppel when: “(1) there was a full and fg
opportunity to litigate thédentical issue in the prior action; (2) the issue wasadlgtiitigated ir]
the prior action; (3) the issue was decided fimal judgment; and (4) the party against whor
[collateral estoppel] is asserted was a party qrivity with a partyin the prior action.”
Syverson v. IBM472 F.3d 1072,a78 (9th Cir. 2007).

Whether to apply the doctrinewgthin the discretion of the district court and is revie
for an abuse of that discretioAppling 340 F.3d at 775. Thissdiretion “provides those cou
the authority to take potential shortcomings or indices of unfairness into account when
considering whether to apply offensive nonmutasiie preclusion, evemhere the above-listg
standard prerequisites are megyversond72 F.3d at 1078-79. The factors the Court shoy
consider in determining whether itfer to apply the doctrine include:

(1) “the plaintiff had the incentive to adoat‘'wait and see’ attitude in the hope

that the first action by another plafiitivould result in a favorable judgment”

which might then be useabainst the losing defendant; (2) the defendant had the
incentive to defend the firsuit with full vigor, especiéy when future suits are

not foreseeable; (3) one anore judgments entered fbee the one invoked as

preclusive are inconsistent with the latbereach other, suggesting that reliance on

a single adverse judgment would be umfand, (4) the defendant might be

afforded procedural opportities in the later action thatvere unavailable in the

first “and that could readilgause a different result.”

Id. at1079 (quotingParklane Hosiery439 U.S. at 330-31).
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The prior proceeding at issigepart of the Nassbridges’ bankruptcy. A bankruptcy
judgment has preclusive effect in later procegslith the requirements for estoppel are met.
Katchen v. Landy382 U.S. 323, 334 (1966) (“The nornnales of res judicata and collateral
estoppel apply to the decisions of bankrumtoyrts.”). The Murraybrought an adversary
proceeding in the bankruptcy tender the debt owed them nisthargeable on the basis of
fraud under 11 U.S.C. 88 5203(2)(A), (a)(4), and (a)(6)See In re Nassbridge434 B.R. 573
576 (Bankr. C.D. Cal. 201@ff'd, 464 B.R. 494 (B.A.P. 9th €i2011). The bankruptcy cour
conducted a bench trial, heard testny, and accepted declaratiorld. The court then issueq
Statement of Decision finding actual frauader 8§ 523(a)(2)(A). The Statement of Decisior]
includes a long discussion ofetliacts for the same time periatlissue here: September 200
through March 2008ld. at 576-81. The court held thtae Murrays had proven the following
elements: “(a) the debtor made a misrepregemt or fraudulent omsson, or engaged in
deceptive conduct; (b) #te time of the representation omduct described in (a) the debtor
knew it to be false or deceptive; (c) the delmb@ade the representati with the intent and

purpose of deceiving the plaintiff(s); the plaintiff(s) justifiablyied on the representation; al

~—r

1 a

~

(e) the plaintiff(s) sustained a loss or damagtagproximate consequen of the representation

having been made.ld. at 584.
In finding fraud, the court made the following explicit findings:
(1) debtor either stated falsely teetMurrays that the Murrays’ money was going
to be used to buy gold bulho or failed to disclose théheir monies were actually
being sent to MF Global to invest & highly leveraged and risky futures or
forward contracts margin account. Thissmgery material information concerning
the degree of risk inherent in the transaction;
(2) debtor knew at the time he made tigstement that it was false or deceptive
and/or that the informain not disclosed was highly meaial and that the ABEX

materials given the Murrays weetherefore very deceptive;
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(3) debtor made these statements, or fdaibediform the Murrayswith intent that
they be deceived since the Mays never woul have agreed to ighlevel of risk

as the debtor well knew:

(4) the Murrays reasaibly relied upon these statements or reasonably relied upon

the ABEX brochures and sales scripts.,ein believing they were buying gold
bullion; and

(5) the Murrays were proximately damag®dthese misstatemss or failures to
disclose in that their entire net invesnt was wiped out, in the amount of
$1,546,523.

Id. at 587. The Bankruptcy Appellate Paagirmed the bankruply court’s findings:

The bankruptcy court found that Muyss based on their conversations with
Nassbridges, the ABEX brochures, thentnly ABEX statemets, and the script
read by ABEX employees after each tradi,of which made reference to gold
bullion, thought they were buyinggold bullion; Murrays had no idea
Nassbridges/ABEX was investing their mesiin risky futures contracts because
he failed to disclose that material fact. . [W]e see nothingn the record to
suggest that the bankruptcy court’s fimgs of fact with respect to Murrays’s
claim under section 523(a)(2)(A) are illogicahplausible, or without support in

the record.

In re Nassbridges464 B.R. 494, at *12 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2011).

ii. Discussion
1. Similarity

In deciding whether the issues litigatadwo proceedings are the same, the Court

considers the following factors:

(1) is there a substantial overlap betw#enevidence or arguent to be advanced
in the second proceeding and thdtzanced in the first?
(2) does the new evidence or argument imgdhe application of the same rule of

law as that involved ithe prior proceeding?

-17-




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

(3) could pretrial preparation and discoveelated to the matter presented in the

first action reasonably be pected to have embraceéde matter sought to be

presented in the second?

(4) how closely related are the ctes involved in the two proceedings?
Steen v. John Hancock Mut. Life Ins. Ad6 F.3d 904, 912 (9th Cir. 1997). The similarity
requirement is unquestionably met in this caBlee evidence presented to the bankruptcy G
Is nearly identical. The Murrays submitted theimodeclarations and teséfl to the same fac
to which they have testified in this caseee Nassbridges 343 B.R. at 576. The same
brochures and mailings were filedfore the Court, Mr. Lund praded the same testimony as
evident in his deposition in this casaedavir. Nassbridges filed a declaratiod. at 578-79.
The same account documentsnfirthe Murrays’ ABEX accounts were admitted before the
bankruptcy courtld. at 579. Documents filed by Mr. Nasslges in his exhibits state that th
bankruptcy case included over 100 exhibitsl the testimony of five withesseSeeOpp’'n Ex.
5. The conduct underlying both actions isthene, and the evidensmgnificantly overlaps.

Mr. Nassbridges makes some argumentsmolpiposition that he was unable to presef
evidence of MF Global's fraud at the bankruptcy proceed8epOpp’n at 5. The argument
appears to be that Mr. Nassbridges did notzeahat MF Global was naictually buying gold
bullion with the money in the trading accouunttil he was notified of the MF Global
bankruptcy. The exhibits Mr. Nassbridges provitesupport of this allegation, however, sh
that at least some of the egitte of Mr. Nassbridges’s allegedent was provided at least fo
months before the bankrupty trigheeOpp’n Ex. 6 (Ex. C to document). It is also not
explained why Mr. Nassbridges needed to kncat MF Global had declared bankruptcy in
order to realize that MF Global lied to himaal what type of accoute had or what had
happened to the funds in it—thectahat futures were being tred became apparent as soon
the accounts were sapped by market fluctumaitn March 2008. MnNassbridges provides no
supporting explanation. There is no indioatto the Court that there was any evidence

unavailable at the time of the bankruptcgttehould prevent collateral estoppel now.
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The present proceeding also involves the sassential rule of law. The commoditieg
fraud violations require fewer elemts than fraud under 11 U.S&523, as they do not requ
reliance or causation. The elements deteeghioy the bankruptcy court therefore fully
encompass the required elementalbbf the CEA violationsléeged here: misrepresentation
scienter, and materialitySee R.J. Fitzgerald & C0310 F.3d at 1328The bankruptcy court
determined these elements clgand unequivocally: “In sum, écourt finds that: (1) debtor
either stated falsely to the vtays that the Murrays’ money wgeing to be used to buy gold
bullion, or failed to disclose th#tteir monies were actually beisgnt to MF Global . . .. This
was very material information noerning the degree of risk inherent in the transaction; (2)
debtor knew at the time he made this statertrettit was false oreteptive and/or that the
information not disclosed was highly mateaald that the ABEX materials given the Murray
were therefore very deceptive; (3) debtor mimse statements, failed to inform the
Murrays,with intent that they be deceivethce the Murrays never wia have agreed to this
level of risk as the debtor well knewNassbridges, 434 B.R. at 587. Both cases address {
same facts used toque the same elements.

Similarly, pretrial preparatin and discovery for each ofetbe cases woulthve been th¢
same, focused on ABEX'’s actiwas, disclosures, and Mr. Nasslges’s intent. There is no
material difference between the two actiongtos point. Because #éhclaims are nearly
identical and premised on the same actionsthyNassbridges, the twzases are also very
closely related.

The Court therefore finds that the ficgillateral estoppel element is satisfied.

2. Actually Litigated

It is also clear that the fraud issue was altyditigated and determed in the bankruptg

action. Indeed, fraud was the s@sue in the bankruptcy acticand the bankruptcy court ma

specific findings that Mr. Nesbridges defrauded the Murrayd. As discussed above, the

bankruptcy court made specific findings on tieeessary elements of the fraud claims. The

was a full bench trial, far more than thersunary judgment or motion for judgment on the
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pleadings that would alsatisfy this elementSee Steen v. John Hancock Mut. Life Ins, Ca.

106 F.3d 904, 912 (9th Cir. 1997)his element is therefore satisfied.
3. Necessarily Decided
“Preclusive force attaches to determinatitret were necessary to support the court’
judgment in the first action.’Resolution Trust Corp. v. Keatin§86 F.3d 1110, 116 (9th Cir.
1999). Because the bankruptcy ddwad to find misrepresentatiosgienter, and materiality i
order to enter judgment against Mr. Nassbridgesehssues were certainly necessarily deg
in that action. They were in no way “g&reral” to the bankruptcy court finding&ee id This
element is therefore satisfied.
4. Same Party
Mr. Nassbridges was the debtor in the bankruptcy aciea.Nassbridges434 B.R. at
577. He is also a defendant named in ¢hse, and the subject of the instant motion for
summary judgment. As such, it is appropriate to apply collateral estoppel against him.
5. Fairness Factors
The Court finds that the fairness factors describdanklaneweigh in favor of
collateral estoppel in this case. There wasaason for Mr. Nassbridges to avoid vigorously
litigating this issue in the bankrugtcourt, as it was in his inteseto avoid a $1.5 million doll
nondischargeable judgment. This was a significazentive. It wasiot unforeseeable that
there may be regulatory action; Mr. Nassbridgettriaey’s letters showhat he was aware ol
the NFA, and he submits himéslgnificant NFA documents regéing trader noncompliance
There were also no procedudifferences between thisisand the bankruptcy suit; Mr.
Nassbridges had every opportunity to presemdence, cross exangnand argue to the
bankruptcy court. He participated in a full bench trial.
There are also no earlier inconsistent judgtaeveighing against collateral estoppel.
The Murrays did file a civil compiat in district court, but thegropped the fnad allegations b
a stipulated amended complaint and ultehatbtained a judgent on negligenceSee
Nassbridges,1434 B.R. at 581-82. They had to preeparately in the bankruptcy court tha

the actions were fraudulent in order to prewaiacharge through the bankruptcy. Had the
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Murrays failed to prove fraud in the districwt, this might be a factor weighing against
application of collateral estoppefee Syversod72 F.3d at 1079 (discussing inconsistent
judgments). This is not the case, however.

To the extent that Mr. Nassbridges alletied he was pro se in the bankruptcy
proceeding, this is falséjs own exhibits demonsteathat he had counsefee Nassbridges |
434 B.R. at 5760pp’n Ex. 6.

6. Conclusion

Based on the foregoing, the issue ofiliagbfor commodities frad was fully litigated
and determined against Mr. Nassbridges in the togud&y court. He therefore cannot relitigg
the issue in this court.

c. No Remaining Dispute of Fact

There is no remaining dispute of material fastto the alleged violations of the CEA.
The bankruptcy court fully litigad the relevant elements ashetermined them against Mr.
Nassbridges. Although the Court strugglesmés to interpret Mr. Nassbridges’sfilings, the
Court is unable to identify anystiernible issue left for triallT here can be no dispute that th¢
misrepresentations and omissidognd by the bankruptcy court werelated to sales of futurg
and options, nor any dispute thia¢ Murrays’ experience was difent than that of any other
victim. See2014 R. Nassbridges Dep. at 187 (“Q: Wbit be fair to say that the Murrays
weren't treated any differently than any othestomer? A: Absolutely.”).Even if it were not,
defrauding the Murrays alone wid be sufficient to estabhdiability under the CEA.

Mr. Nassbridges presents several arguments@mtits that he claims show that he d
not defraud his investors. This includes exp@ihion analysis opining that the bankruptcy
trustee did not find any irregularities, and tbaty one investor filed a fraud claim in the
bankruptcy court.SeeOpp’n Ex. A, B. Mr. Nassbridges also argues that his personal

accounting records dispute vari@aspects of the fraud claims. Opp’n at 7. Mr. Nassbridgs

ite

D

£S

d

2S

also argues that the true fraud was perpetratddblobal, and submits a number of exhibjts

detailing misconduct at MF GlobaSee idat 8, Exs. 6, 8. Mr. N&bridges also argues that

CFTC is ignoring evidence that MF Global liedhin by telling him his accounts were, in fa
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for delivery of gold bullion.See idat 12, Ex. 6. These issuesru go to the fact of collaterg

estoppel, however, and Mr. Nassbridges is estofypetrelitigating these issues in this Cout.

VIIl.  Count 4: Failure to Register
a. Applicable Law

Section 4k(2) of the CEA, U.S.C. § 6k(2), provides:
(2) It shall be unlawful foany person to be asso@dtwith a commodity pool
operator as a partner, officer, employeensultant, or agent (or any person
occupying a similar status or performisgnilar functions), in any capacity that
involves (i) the solicitation ofunds, securities, or proggrfor a participation in a
commodity pool . . . unless such perssmegistered with the Commission under
this chapter as an assatad person of such commtydpool operator and such
registration shall not have expired, besrspended (and the period of suspension
has not expired), or ba revoked. . . .

7 U.S.C. § 6k(2). Regulation3(aa)(3), 17 C.F.R. 1.84)(3), defines an “associated person
any natural person who is associatedng af the following capacities with: . . .
(3) A commodity pool operator as a puat, officer, employee, consultant, or
agent (or any natural pers occupying a similar status or performing similar
functions), in any capacityhich involves (i) the solitation of funds, securities,
or property for a participation in a commtydpool or (ii) the supervision of any
person or persons so engaged . . .

17 C.F.R. 8§ 1.3(aa)(3).

b. Discussion

The CFTC argues that ABEX Corp. and BB LLC acted as CPOs, and that Mr.

Nassbridges acted as an associated persoatd€B0. Therefore, the CFTC argues that M.

Nassbridges’s acts in soliciting funds from ineestlike the Murrays and Mr. Gindt, pooling
those funds in MF Global tratly accounts, and then trading tbdgnds in futures and option
constituted soliciting funds for a commodity pool under 8§ 6k(2),sanequired registration &

an “associated person.” Mot. at 20.
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The Court has already determined that there genuine disputhat the ABEX entities
were CPOs. The Court thereddiurns to whether there candmy genuine dispute that Mr.
Nassbridges was an “associated person” requirigigtration. No genuine dispute on this is
Is possible. Mr. Nassbridges was the CEO aedigent of ABEX Corpand the CEO of ABE
LLC. See2009R. Nassbridges Dep. Ex. BABEX Corp. filings withthe California Secretary
of State listing Ryan A. Nassbridges as CE®well as account doaents listing Ryan A.
Nassbridges as President); B. Nassbridges &tept (stating that Ryan Nassbridges was
“president” of “American Bullion Exchange, LLE” Mr. Nassbridges was certainly a “partn
officer, employee, consultant, agent (or any natural person occupying a similar status or
performing similar functions).” 7 U.S.C. § 6k(2)7 C.F.R. § 1.3(aa)(3). The CFTC has als
submitted evidence showing that Mr. Nasdgeis solicited funds from Mr. Gindt and the
Murrays on behalf of ABEX, supervised Mr. Luadolicitation of funds on behalf of ABEX,
and oversaw all of ABEX's maédting materials and policie$SeeGindt Dep. at 6-7; Murray
Dep. at 11-12; Lund Dep. at 15-20. Mr. Nas$ipes has not presented any evidence mater
disputing that he solicited funds or provided daertising materials asue. Mr. Nassbridge
discussed customer discloss in his own depositior5ee2009 R. Nassbridges Dep. at 102.
Mr. Nassbridges has therefore not met his burdeidev any genuine dispute of fact as to
whether he was obligated to register as @sdaiated person” based on his work for the AB
entities.

Next, the Court addresses the question whelteNassbridges was registered with t
CFTC. The CFTC submits both the Bougaration and Mr. Nassbridges’s admissions.
The CFTC’s RFA 1 3 to RyalNassbridges reads: “Admit that R. Nassbridges was never
registered with the Comssion in any capacity.SeeMot. Ex. A. The CFTC has therefore
satisfied its burden. Mr. Nassbridges does notemtesny evidence that keas registered with
the CFTC between October 2086d March 2008. Therefore gile is no genuine dispute of
material fact that Mr. Nassbridges wagquged to register und@ U.S.C. § 6k(2).

In its initial complaint, the CFC also alleged that Mr. Idabridges violated 7 U.S.C. §

6m(1), relating to the use of instrumentaliti¢snterstate commerce by commodity trading
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advisors and CPOs. The CFTC did not raisedahegation in its motion for summary judgmg
That claim will thereforgroceed to trial.
IX.  Counts 5-7: Pool Funds, Pool Didosure Documents, Monthly Account
Statements
The remaining counts in the Complaint aekdr the Defendants’ failure to treat the
commodity pool funds as a separate entity, faitaraccept pool funds only in the name of tf
pool, failure to provide pool disclosure doeents, and failure to provide monthly account

statements.

The CFTC makes no argument on these courts motion. The onlypart of the motion

that could be construed to reference these claniee CFTC's brief argument that Mr. and N
Nassbridges’ failure to respondttte RFAs caused them torad all of the material facts
alleged in the complaintSeeMot. at 20. The CFTC argues that it is therefore “entitled to
summary judgment on all ofelhclaims in its Complaint.’ld. The CFTC does not indicate
which RFAs support its claims, does not referagheeregulations or code sections that it all¢
Mr. Nassbridges violated, and daest reference sections of @mplaint that correspond to
these counts. The Court reviewed the RFASGRTC submitted to Mr. and Mrs. Nassbridg
seeMot. Exs. A, G, and it does not appear to@waurt that all of the elements of the alleged
regulatory violations are &blished by the RFAs.
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56 staties following procedures that a party must
follow in moving for summary judgment:
(c) Procedures.
(1) Supporting Faatal Positions A party asserting that a fact cannot be or
Is genuinely disputed mustipport the assertion by:
(A) citing to particular parts omaterials in therecord, including
depositions, documents, electronicallpred information, affidavits
or declarations, stipulations (imding those made for purposes of
the motion only), admissions, imtegatory answers, or other

materials; or
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(B) showing that the marials cited do not ¢sblish the absence or
presence of a genuine dispute, that an adverse party cannot
produce admissible evident®support the fact.
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). Should the Court findtth party has failed to meet the requirements
Rule 56(c), the Court has seakoptions under Rule 56(e):
(e) Failing to Properly Support or Adels a Fact. If a party fails to properly
support an assertion of fact or fails toperly address another party's assertion of
fact as required by Rulg6(c), the court may:
(1) give an opportunity to prodgrsupport or address the fact;
(2) consider the fact undisputed for purposes of the motion;
(3) grant summaryudgment if the motion ah supporting materials--
including the facts consaled undisputed--show thtite movant is entitled
to it; or
(4) issue any other appropriate order.
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e). The Court finds that @€l C’s wholesale failure to mention, discuss
analyze its regulatory allegatiomsCounts 5-7 of its Complaimiaces it in noncompliance w
Rule 56(c). The Court therefore DENIESysuary judgment on the regulatory violations
alleged in Counts 5-7.
X. Additional Arguments in Opposition
Mr. Nassbridges raises numerous argumend@position to the motion that are not fy
briefed, many of which do not cite legal autharifijhe Court has evaluated and considered
argument, but does not address them all individladhg. To the extetiiey are not discusse
they are found to be unconeing. The Court addresses several of Mr. Nassbridges’smor
detailed arguments here.
Mr. Nassbridges argues that depositiondcaipts cannot be relied on at summary
judgment, but this is inaccurat&eefFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c) (perniitg a moving party to suppq

an assertion using “particular parts of materials in the recordidimg) depositions . . .”).
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Mr. Nassbridges also argues that Title 7 ofliimited States Code is not applicable hg
because it applies ontg agriculture, rather #n the dealing of coinsid bullion. Title 7 does
bear the title “Agriculture,” but it also coveai commaodities markets and trading, including
precious metalsSee, e.g7 U.S.C § 23.

Mr. Nassbridges also argues that this actiatates his bankruptcgischarge injunction
under 11 U.S.C. 88 727 and 524(a)(2). Opp’h7at The Court previously rejected this
argument in an earlier order and sees no reason to do otherwise at thget®wler, March
11, 2011 (Dkt. 22) at 5-6.

Mr. Nassbridges also argues that the CIE&Gnot move for summary judgment beca
its motion is untimely and because the Couevprusly denied Mr. Nassbridges’smaotion for
summary judgment o@ctober 17, 2013SeeOrder (Dkt. 217). Mr. Nassbridges claims tha
the order “promises” that Mr. Nassbridges will pratéztrial. Opp’'n at 16. First, the CFTC
motion is not barred as untimely. It is propedenthe Court’'s most recent scheduling orde
force as of January 27, 2018eeMinutes (Dkt. 241). Second, tii@ct that the Court denied |
Defendants’ motion does not automatically mésat the Plaintiff's motion must be denied.

Xl.  Remedies

Although several causes of action remain @msing, the fraud claims are the basis f
the requested remedies. The Court therefore déspafsthe remedies for the fraud violationg
this time.

a. Injunctive Relief

The CFTC seeks a permanenumnction against all of the Defendants under section
of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(a). This statutprovision gives the CFTC authority to seek
injunctive relief “whenever it appears that any paras engaged, is ergjag, or is about to
engage in any act or practicenstituting a violation oany provision of this Act or any rule,
regulation, or order thereunder.” Section GtHer provides that upon a proper showing, a
permanent or temporary injunction or restraininder shall be granted by the district court
without bond.” Commodity Futures Trading Comm’n v. HU8®1 F.2d 1211, 1219 (7th Cir.

1979). “Once a violation is demonstrated, the mg\party need show onthat there is some
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reasonable likelihood dtiture violations.” Id. at 1220. In determininghether to grant such
injunction, the Court consider&he egregiousness of the defentia actions, the isolated or
recurrent nature of the infraction, the degresadénter involved, the sincerity of the defendz:
assurances against future violations, the defatsleecognition of the wrongful nature of his
conduct, and the likelihood thtétte defendant’s occupation willggent opportunities for futur
violations.” U.S. S.E.C. v. Ginsbur§62 F.3d 1292, 1304 (11thrC2004) (internal citation
omitted). Courts have enteredip@nent injunctions against fueuviolations of the CEASee
e.g., CFTC v. U.S. Metals Depository C&68 F. Supp. 1149 (S.N.Y.1979). “Broader
injunctions prohibiting tradingctivity, in addition to enjming defendants from future
violations, may also be warrantedJ.S. Commodity Futures Trading Comm’n v. Arrington
8:11CV181, 2014 WL 685341, at *21 (D. Neb. Jan. 28024), motion for relief from judgmen
denied (Apr. 16, 2014).

In support of its request for a permaneating injunction, the CFTC argues that Mr.
Nassbridges’s violations were willful, flagranfhdainvolved scienter. They argue that he hg
made no promises not to repeat these mistakeshat failure to enjoimight result in more
victims. The Court agrees that Mr. Nassbridgesinduct is sufficiently serious, long-term,
willful to establish a reasonable likelihood ofudure violation. Courts considering similar
cases have imposed permanent trading bansersons found in violation of the fraud
provisions of the CEASee id

The Court therefore enters a compreheaensiading ban against Mr. Nassbridges, ang
enters a permanent injunction restraining aimd any of his agents, servants, employees,
assigns, attorneys, and persons in active cooc@articipation witithem, from violating the
CEA and from engaging in future trading.

b. Monetary Penalties

The CFTC also requests civil monetaryakies under section 6¢(d)(1) of the CEA, 7
U.S.C. 8§ 13a-1(d)(1), and Reguati143.8(a), 17 C.F.R. 8§ 143.8@. These sections proviq
in relevant part:

(d) Civil penalties
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(1) In general
In any action brought undéhnis section, the Commission may seek and the court
shall have jurisdiction to ippse, on a proper showing any persofound in the
action to have committed any violation—

(A) a civil penalty in the amount of honore than the gater of $100,000

or triple the monetary gain to the person for each violation . . .

7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(d)(1). The assated regulation, 17 C.F.R. 1&3increased the base penalty

to $130,000 for violationsommitted between October 23,020and October 23, 2008. 17
C.F.R. 143.8(2)(ii)(C).

The CFTC identifies the followg factors for considerain in determining monetary
penalties: “the relationship of the violationisgue to the regulatory purposes of the CEA af
whether or not the violations involved cgnevisions of the CEA; whether scienter was
involved; the consequences flowing from the atmins; financial benefits to a defendant; an
harm to customers or the marke&trington, 2014 WL 685331, at *22. Findings of fraud a
especially serious and desery of monetary penaltiesSee Drivey 877 F. Supp. 2d at 982.

The CFTC argues that Defendants receiygat@ximately $5.5 milbn from participanty
earned about $300,000tlugh actual spot trading of metadsd returned atut $870,000 to
participants. Mot. at 24. The CFTC calculdtesn this a monetary gain of $4,930,000, wh
it requests be tripled to a penaitfy$14,790,000. The Court fisdersuasive the fact that Mr
Nassbridges intentionally misregented or omitted crucial infmation to investors like the
Murrays and Mr. Gindt. His actions caused sigaifit harm and go to the heart of the purpc
of the CEA. In calculating a pelty, the Court finds that thetal value of the investments
solicited, $5.5 million, is the preferred base poihhis amount should be reduced, however
reflect the money distributed to investorslahe amount of the outstanding $1.5 million
judgment held by the Murrays, for which Mr. Nasdges remains liable. The Court therefo
assesses a monetary penalty g#4$8,000.00 against Mr. Nassbridges.

c. Disgorgement
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Under 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(d)(B), the Court may also impose the equitable remedy g
“disgorgement of gains received in connectiath” a violation. The statute provides:

(d) Civil penalties

(3) Equitable remedies
In any action brought undéhis section, the Commission may seek, and the
court may impose, on a proper shogii on any person found in the action
to have committed any violatioaquitable remedies including—
(A) restitution to persons who ¥ sustained losses proximately
caused by such violation (indlamount of such losses); and
(B) disgorgement of gains received in connection with such
violation.
7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (dgee Commodity Futures Trading Comna: Co Petro Mktg. Grp., Inc.
680 F.2d 573, 583 (9th Cir. 1982).

The CFTC argues that Mr. and Mrs. Nasspeis transferred $1,643,787 of participan
funds into their jmt bank account, and then used thoselfufor personal expenses. The Ci
asks that half that amount, or Bita Nassbridgsk&are, be disgorged tiee product of the illegi
activities. Several RFAs suppdine argument that Defendantarisferred funds to personal
accounts.SeeB. Nassbridges RFA No. 12; R. 8&bridges RFA No. 51 (*Admit that
Defendants and/or Relief Defendsamtithdrew funds from trading accounts in their name a
deposited those funds in R&B Nassbridges’ jbiahk accounts.”); RNassbridges RFA No. 5
(“Admit that Defendants used customer fundpdg utilities, property taxes and insurance g

to make political contributions.”). The BougBeclaration supports the monetary calculatig

with explanation of the Nassbridges’ bank acd¢suanderlying bank recds, a summary table

of those accounts, and explanation of the transactions between the ABEX accounts and
Nassbridges’ personal accouneeBougas Decl. {1 4-11, 34-47, Exs. 2-3; Letter Brief EX
D-P, W-Z, AA-FF.
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Based on the foregoing, the Court finds tiiagorgement in the amount of $821,893
from Relief Defendant Bita Nassbridges is warranted.

XlIl.  Default Judgment

The CFTC also moves falefault judgment as tlve nonresponding corporate
defendants. The Court resolwbgs motion in a separate order.

I\VV.  Disposition

The Court GRANTS summary judgment as to ceund of the Complaint. As to cour
5-8, summary judgment is DENIED. The CFi@y submit a proposed final judgment for t

Court’s approval within one week ofdliesolution of the outstanding claims.

DATED: August 7, 2014 o
At 8 Conttor
DAVID O. CARTER
UNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE
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